IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX
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Third-Party Defendant.

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF, )
) CASE NO. SX-2017-CV-342
Plaintiff and Counter-Defendant, )
) ACTION FOR DEBT AND
V. ) FORECLOSURE; COUNTERCLAIM
) FOR DAMAGES; THIRD PARTY
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION, ) ACTION
)
Defendant, Counter-Plaintiff, and ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Third-Party Plaintiff )
)
V. )
)
FATHI YUSUF, )
)
)
)

CONSOLIDATED CASES: Civil Case No. SX-2016-CV-650; Civil Case No. SX-2016-CV-
00065; Civil Case No. SX-2017-CV-342

RENEWED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

COMES NOW Plaintifft MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF, by and through
KELLERHALS FERGUSON KROBLIN PLLC and hereby renews her motion for summary judgment on
her foreclosure and debt claims against Defendant Sixteen Plus Corporation pursuant to Rule 56

of the Virgin Islands Rules of Civil Procedure.!

Manal seeks foreclosure of her first priority
mortgage and an Order of foreclosure.
I.  Manal Yousef is Entitled to Judgment in Her Favor on her Debt and Foreclosure

Claims

Manal loaned Sixteen Plus the principal sum of $4,500,000.00. The loan is evidenced by

' On April 19, 2023, Manal filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. The Special Master denied the Motion without
prejudice by Order dated November 20, 2023 because discovery was “still ongoing” at that time. Accordingly, through
the instant Motion, Manal renews her request for Summary Judgment on her debt and foreclosure claims.
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a promissory note and secured by a first priority mortgage. Sixteen Plus failed to pay back the
loan in accordance with the promissory note. Accordingly, Sixteen Plus defaulted under the terms
and conditions of the promissory note and mortgage. Sixteen Plus has failed to pay all
subsequent payments. To date, Sixteen Plus’s default has not been cured despite notice of the
default.

Pursuant to the terms of the note and mortgage, Manal seeks to collect the debt owed to
her and to foreclose on the mortgage securing the note. There are no genuine issues of material
fact in dispute and Manal is, therefore, entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Accordingly,
summary judgment should be granted in favor of Manal and against Sixteen Plus on Manal’s debt
and foreclosure claims.

Il. Statement of Undisputed Material Facts?

1. Sixteen Plus is owner of record of the Mortgaged Property commonly known as Estate
Diamond Keturah located in St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, which is described as those parcels
and remainders of parcels and road plots set forth and described in seventeen (17) separate listings
in Exhibit A to the mortgage (herein, “Diamond Keturah”). A copy of the Marshal’s Deed is
attached as Exhibit 1.

2. Sixteen Plus, through its President Waleed Hamed, was authorized to borrow $4,500,000
from Yousef and to execute a promissory note and a mortgage. A copy of Unanimous Consent of
Directors in Lieu of a Meeting dated September 15, 1997 is attached as Exhibit 2;

3. As evidenced by the Promissory Note (“Note™), Sixteen Plus borrowed $4,500,000 from

Manal to purchase Diamond Keturah. See Exhibit 3 (Note).

2 The facts set forth below are undisputed for the purposes of this motion only.
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4, On September 15, 1997, Sixteen Plus Corporation, via its President Waleed Hamed,
executed and delivered the Note to Manal. The Note memorializes Sixteen Plus’s promise to pay
Manal the principal sum of Four Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,500,000) together
with interest at a rate of 8% per annum in payments of interest only ($360,000 per year) on the
anniversary of the promissory note for five years with payment of full principal due five years
from the date of the promissory note. Exhibits 3 & Exhibit 8 (Waleed Depo. Tr. at 28:16-29:13);
see also Sixteen Plus’s First Amended Answer to Complaint and Counterclaim filed on November
21, 2023 at § 5 (admitting paragraph 5 of Complaint, which states that “On or about September
15, 1997, Sixteen Plus executed and delivered a Promissory Note (the “Note”) in favor of the
plaintiff [Manal] Yousef in the principal sum of Four Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
($4,500,000.00) together with interest at eight percent (8%) per annum” but denying the note is
valid and enforceable).

5. To secure Sixteen Plus’s obligation to repay Manal under the Note, Sixteen Plus, through
its President Waleed Hamed, executed and delivered to Manal a First Priority Mortgage
(“Mortgage”) dated September 15, 1997 encumbering Diamond Keturah. The Mortgage was
recorded at the Office of Recorder of Deeds for the District of St. Croix on February 22, 1999, in
Book 679 at Page 33 as Document No. 768/1999. A copy of the First Priority Mortgage is attached
as Exhibit 4.

6. The Note states that in the event of any default in the payment of principal and interest,
which default is not cured within 15 days, or “if there is any default in any of the terms and
conditions of the Mortgage,” the money due under the Note “at once becomes due and payable

and may be collected forthwith . . ..” Exhibit 3. The Note further provides that “the entire unpaid
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principal balance of this Note shall thereafter bear interest at a per annum rate equal to eighteen
percent (18.0%) per annum simple interest.” Id.

7. Regarding the costs of collecting the sum due under the Note, the Note provides “[i]n the
event the Note, or any part thereof, is collected by or through an attorney-at-law, Maker [Sixteen
Plus Corporation] agrees to pay all costs of collection including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees
and court costs.” Exhibit 3.

8. The First Priority Mortgage signed by Sixteen Plus states in pertinent part:

15. EVENTS OF DEFAULT; DECLARATION OF NOTICE DUE. If one
or more of the following events (herein referred to as “Events of Default”) shall
occur:

(a) if the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of or interest, if any, on the
Note when the same becomes due and payable (whether at maturity or on a date
fixed for any interest payment, any installment payment, any prepayment or
otherwise) and such default is not cured within fifteen (15) days after the payment
due date; or

(b) if the Borrower shall fail to perform or comply with any of the other terms
of this Mortgage and such default is not cured within thirty (30) days after the
effective date of written notice from Lender to Borrower;

skookoskok

Then and in any such event (regardless of the pendency of any proceeding which
has or might have the effect of preventing the Borrower from complying with the
terms of the Mortgage), the Lender may at any time, without notice to declare the
entire unpaid principal balance and all other indebtedness evidenced by the Note
and/or secured by this Mortgage to be immediately due and payable, without
presentment, demand, protest or notice, all of which are hereby waived.

ok

18. FORECLOSURE. If an Event of Default shall have occurred, the Lender may
at any time proceed at law or in equity or otherwise to foreclose the lien of this
Mortgage as against all or any part of the Property. Borrower hereby expressly
waives all rights to require Lender to first resort to the sale of any portion of the
Property before foreclosing upon and/or selling any other portion(s) of the Property
which is subject to this Mortgage and Borrower hereby agrees that Lender, at



Yousef'v. Sixteen Plus Corporation Case No. SX-2017-CV-342
Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment Page 5 of 15

Lender’s sole discretion, may elect to sell any one or more portion of the property
in one or more Marshal’s sales.

Exhibit 4.

0. Manal is a holder of the Note and Mortgage and is entitled to enforce those instruments.
Exhibits 3 & 4.

10. The Note provides that Sixteen Plus will be in default by failing to pay an installment.
Exhibit 3.

11.  The Mortgage authorizes Manal to foreclose in the event of a default. Exhibit 4.

12. On or about September 15, 2001, Sixteen Plus failed to pay an annual interest only payment
on the Note when it became due. Sixteen Plus further failed to pay every subsequent payment
principal and interest thereafter. See Exhibit 5 (Manal’s Response to Sixteen Plus’s First Set of
Interrogatories in matter styled as Sixteen Plus Corporation v. Manal Mohammad Yousef, Civ. No.
SX-16-CV-65) at Interrogatory No. 11; see also Exhibit 6 (Fathi Yousuf’s Certified Second
Supplemental and Amended Responses to Defendant Waleed M. Hamed’s First Set of
Interrogatories in the matter styled as Fathi Yusuf'v. Peter’s Farm Investment Corporation, Sixteen
Plus Corporation, Mohammad A. Hamed, Waleed M. Hamed, Mufeed M. Hamed, and Hisham M.
Hamed, Case No. ST-15-CV-344) (stating that “[t]hree interest-only payments were made during
the 1998-2000 period to Manal Yousef.”)

13.  Manal sent notice of the default to Sixteen Plus at its corporate address of 4C & D Sion
Farm, Christiansted, St. Croix, via courier by letter dated December 12, 2012. See Exhibit 7.

14.  Sixteen Plus made no further payments on the Note. See Exhibit 5 at Response to
Interrogatory No. 11; Exhibit 6 (Fathi Yusufresponding to Interrogatory 5, which requests, among
other things, “the date of all payments on the loan” that “[t]hree interest-only payments were made

during the 1998-2000 period to Manal Yousef.”)
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15. Sixteen Plus did not cure its default within the 15-day cure period.

16. The total debt is due. All pre-conditions to the receipt of the debt owed and to foreclosure

have been met under the Note and Mortgage.

17. There is now justly due and owing to Manal from Sixteen Plus the principal balance on the

mortgage ($4,500,000) and interest from the date it is to be computed and accrued late charges to

the date of payment as well as reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and expenses in accordance with

the Note and Mortgage. Exhibits 5 and 6.

18. Manal’s father gave her $4,500,000 to secure her marriage and financial future. Exhibit 9

(Manal Depo Tr. at 68:21-70:7; 30:14-31:12).

19.  Manal’s brother Isam explained that in his culture, if a married woman does not produce

children after several years, the husband will divorce her because “they want children.” Exhibit

10 (Isam Depo Tr. at 70:3-72:12).

20.  The funds were provided to Isam to manage on Manal’s behalf. Exhibit 9 (Manal Depo

Tr. at 30:14-31:12).

21. The money Manal loaned to Sixteen Plus was transferred by Isam to Sixteen Plus and

Manal’s father and her brother Isam negotiated the terms of the Note and Mortgage on Manal’s

behalf. Exhibit 9 (Manal Depo. Tr. at 47:1-48:5).

22.  Manal testified that she loaned the money to Sixteen Plus. Exhibit 9 (Manal Depo. Tr. at

78:16-79:10).

I11.  The Instant Debt and Foreclosure Case is Well Suited for Summary Judgment
Motions for summary judgment are governed by Rule 56 of the Virgin Islands Rules of

Civil Procedure. Summary judgment must be entered “if the movant shows that there is no genuine

dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” V.I.R.
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C1v. P. 56. The party seeking “summary judgment bears the burden of demonstrating that there is
no genuine issue of any material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” DLJ
Mortgage Capital, Inc. v. Triumph Development, LLC, Case No. ST-15-CV-114, 2018 WL
11277255, at *1 (V.I. Super. Oct. 26, 2018).

“‘A fact is material if it can affect the outcome of the case,” and a genuine dispute of
material fact exists if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could find in favor of the
nonmoving party on the disputed fact. Id. (quoting Burd v. Antilles Yachting Services, Inc., 57
V.1. 354,360 (V.I. 2012)).

While summary judgment is sometimes described as a “drastic remedy” in other contexts,
“debt and foreclosure cases are well-suited for summary judgment.” Banco Popular de Puerto
Ricov. Panzer, Case No. ST-2015-CV00056, 2021 WL 3355327, at *§ (V.1. Super. June 23, 2021).
IV. Manal is Entitled to Summary Judgment on Her Debt Claim

Manal is entitled to judgment in her favor on her debt claim because she has established
that Sixteen Plus owes a certain amount and Sixteen Plus is obligated to pay that amount.

Under Virgin Islands common law, an action for debt requires the plaintiff to demonstrate
that (1) the defendant owes a certain amount and (2) the defendant is or should be obligated to pay
that amount. FirstBank Puerto Rico v. Webster, 2023 VI SUPER 24U, 4 8, 2023 WL 3476392, at
*6 (V.I. Super. Ct. May 15, 2023) (citing Greenleaf Commons, LLC v. St. John Day Spa & Salon,
LLC, 2021 VI Super 2U § 9 (V.I. Super. Ct. Jan. 11, 2021)).

There is no dispute that Sixteen Plus executed a Promissory Note and Mortgage on
September 15, 1997. The Note provides that Sixteen Plus promises to pay Manal, the

payee/holder, the principal sum of $4,500,000 together with interest at the rate of 8% per annum.
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SOF 94 3, 4, 6; Exhibit 3. Sixteen Plus’s promise to pay was secured by a Mortgage in the
principal sum of $4,500,000 encumbering Diamond Keturah. SOF 99 5 and 8; Exhibit 4.

Sixteen Plus admits it executed the Note and Mortgage. Nevertheless, Sixteen Plus’s First
Amended Answer and Counterclaim® claims no debt is owed because, contrary to the duly
executed Note and Mortgage, Manal did not actually lend any money to Sixteen Plus. The
Amended Counterclaim alleges the Note and Mortgage were prepared, executed, and recorded to
conceal a money laundering scheme. The alleged scheme involved depositing large sums of
money into Sixteen Plus’s bank account. The Amended Counterclaim alleges that the Note and
Mortgage were created to show that Sixteen Plus came into possession of $4,500,000 through a
legitimate means, when actually the funds were gained through an unlawful money laundering
scheme.

The evidence, however, establishes that Manal loaned $4,500,000 to Sixteen Plus and,
pursuant to the Note and Mortgage, the entire unpaid balance is owed to Manal. Manal testified
that her father gave her $4,500,000. She further explained that she had six miscarriages and her
father was trying to help her “secure” her marriage and financial future. SOF 9 18; Exhibit 9
(Manal Depo Tr. at 68:21-70:7). Manal’s brother, Isam, provided further context: he testified that
in his culture if a married woman does not produce children after several years, the husband will
divorce her because “they want children.” SOF q 19; Exhibit 10 (Isam Depo Tr. at 70:3-72:12).

The funds were provided to Isam to manage on Manal’s behalf. SOF 9§ 20; Exhibit 9
(Manal Depo Tr. at 30:14-31:12). The money Manal loaned to Sixteen Plus was transferred by

Isam to Sixteen Plus and Manal’s father and brother negotiated the terms of the Note and Mortgage

3 See Sixteen Plus’s First Amended Answer to Complaint and Counterclaim filed on November 21, 2023.
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on Manal’s behalf. SOF q 21; Exhibit 9 (Manal Depo. Tr. at 47:1-48:5). Manal testified that she
loaned the money to Sixteen Plus. SOF §22; Exhibit 9 (Manal Depo. Tr. at 78:16-79:10).

Accordingly, the evidence establishes that, as evidenced by the Note and Mortgage, Manal
lent Sixteen Plus $4,500,000 as an investment and the entire principal balance plus interest and
costs is due and owing to Manal.

V. Manalis Entitled to Summary Judgment on Her Foreclosure Claim

Lawsuits to enforce promissory notes, such as the instant matter, are well suited for
summary judgment due to well-established legal principles, simplicity of the issues involved, and
often uncontested facts. As set forth below, there are no genuinely disputed material facts and
Manal is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on her debt and foreclosure claims.

Section 531(a) of Title 28 of the Virgin Islands Code governs debt and foreclosure actions
in the Virgin Islands. It provides, in its entirety:

A lien upon real property, other than that of a judgment, whether created by

mortgage or otherwise, shall be foreclosed, and the property adjudged to be sold to

satisfy the debt secured thereby, by an action of an equitable nature. In such action,

in addition to the judgment of foreclosure and sale, if it appears that a promissory

note or other personal obligation for the payment of the debt has been given by the

mortgagor or other lien debtor, or by any other person as principal or otherwise, the

court shall also adjudge a recovery of the amount of such debt against such person

or persons, as the case may be, as in the case of an ordinary judgment for the

recovery of money.
28 V.I.C. § 531(a).

Pursuant to § 531(a), to prevail on a debt and foreclosure cause of action “the plaintiff must
establish three (3) elements: 1) debtor executed a promissory note and mortgage, 2) debtor is in

default under the terms of the note and mortgage, and 3) lender is authorized to foreclose on the

property mortgaged as security for the note.” Brouillard v. DLJ Mortgage Capital, Inc., 63 V 1.
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788, 793 (V.I. 2015) (debt and foreclosure action); see also Carrillo v. Citimortgage, Inc., 63 V.1.
670, 674 (V.1. 2015).

No genuine issue of material fact exists in that Sixteen Plus executed, acknowledged, and
delivered a promissory note and mortgage. SOF 99 2-5. A default occurred under the terms and
conditions of the promissory note and mortgage on September 15, 2001, for failing to make an
annual interest only payment when due. SOF 9 12-14. Manal is a holder of those instruments
entitled to enforce them. SOF 9. See Carrillo, 63 V.1. at 675. Accordingly, Manal’s Motion for
Summary Judgment must be granted.

A. Sixteen Plus Executed a Promissory Note and Mortgage

The first requirement is satisfied because there is no dispute that Sixteen Plus executed a
Promissory Note and Mortgage on September 15, 1997.

It is incontrovertible that Sixteen Plus executed, acknowledged, and delivered a Note
promising to pay Manal, the payee/holder, the principal sum of $4,500,000 together with interest
at the rate of 8% per annum payable in interest only for five years with payment of the full principal
due in the fifth year.* SOF 9 4; Exhibit 3. Sixteen Plus’s promise to pay was secured by a
Mortgage in the principal sum of $4,500,000 encumbering Diamond Keturah. SOF 99 5-6; Exhibit
4. Succinctly stated, on September 15, 1997, Waleed Hamed, as President of Sixteen Plus,
executed, acknowledged, and delivered to Manal the Note obligating Sixteen Plus to pay the
principal amount of $4.5 million, together with interest at a rate of 8% per annum. SOF 99 2, 3, 4
and 6. Repayment of the loan was secured by a first priority mortgage on Diamond Keturah also
executed by Sixteen Plus, through its President Waleed Hamed, on September 15, 1997. SOF q

2,5, and 8.

4 Eight percent of $4,500,000.00 equals $360,000. Accordingly, under the terms of the Notice, Sixteen Plus was
obligated to pay $360,000 in interest each year.
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Accordingly, Manal has satisfied the first element, that the debtor, here Sixteen Plus,

executed a promissory note and mortgage.
B. Sixteen Plus is in Default under the Terms of the Note and Mortgage

There is also no dispute that debtor/Sixteen Plus failed to make payments due under the
governing instruments. Therefore, pursuant to the terms of Note and Mortgage, Sixteen Plus is in
default.

Under the Note, a failure to make payments that remains uncured after 15 days constitutes
default. Specifically, the Note provides, in relevant part:

It is hereby expressly agreed that should any default be made in the payment of
principal and interest as stipulated above, and if such monetary default remains
uncured for a period of fifteen (15) days, or if there is any default in any of the
terms and conditions of the Mortgage, subject to the Notice provision, if any, in
said instrument, then a default shall exist hereunder, and in such event the principal
indebtedness evidenced hereby, and any other sums advanced or due hereunder or
under the Mortgage, at the option of the Holder without notice or demand, at once
become due and payable and may be collected forthwith, and the entire unpaid
principal balance of this Note shall thereafter bear interest at a per annum rate equal
to eighteen percent (18.0%) per annum simple interest.

SOF 9 6; Exhibit 3. The Mortgage contains similar language regarding a failure to pay constituting
default. It states in relevant part:

15. ... If one or more of the following events (herein referred to as
“Events of Default) shall occur:

(a) if the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of or interest, if any,
on the Note when the same becomes due and payable (whether at maturity or on a
date fixed for any interest payment, any installment payment, any prepayment or
otherwise) and such default is not cured within fifteen (15) days after the payment
due date; or

(b) if the Borrower shall fail to perform or comply with any of the other
terms of this Mortgage and such default is not cured within thirty (30) days after
the effective date of written notice from Lender to Borrower;
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Then and in any such event (regardless of the pendency of any proceeding

which has or might have the effect of preventing the Borrower from complying

with the terms of the Mortgage), the Lender may at any time, without notice to

declare the entire unpaid principal balance and all other indebtedness evidenced by

the Note and/or secured by this Mortgage to be immediately due and payable,

without presentment, demand, protest or notice, all of which are hereby waived.
SOF 9 8; Exhibit 4 at ] 15.

Sixteen Plus defaulted under the terms and conditions of the Note and Mortgage by failing
to make an interest only payment of $360,000 in 2001 and payment of the full principal in 2002.
In addition, Sixteen Plus further failed to make each and every payment due thereafter. SOF 9|
11-15; Exhibits 5 and 6. The default was not cured.

By written notice dated December 12, 2012, Manal declared the note and mortgage to be
in default and made demand for payment in full of the entire principal balance of $4,500,000,
together with accrued interest thereof, late charges, and all of the sums due and owing under the
Note and Mortgage. SOF 9 12-13; Exhibit 7 (letter from Mr. Snow to Sixteen Plus). Despite
being notified of its default, Sixteen Plus did not cure the default. SOF 99 12-15; Exhibit 7.

Through the letter from Mr. Snow, Sixteen Plus not only was charged with default at the
time of the default but also was informed of its failure to perform under the Note and Mortgage.
Furthermore, the letter made a demand for performance to no avail. SOF 9 13-15; Exhibit 7.
The Snow letter indicates Sixteen Plus is in default and must pay past due amount stated or legal
measures (i.e., foreclosure) would be taken. SOF q 13; Exhibit 7. As a result of the default and
since the loan is past maturity (debtor/borrower is past due on all remaining payments of principal

and interest), Manal is due $4,500,000 in principal plus interest and late charges to the date of

payment in accordance with the governing loan instruments. SOF 9 12-16; Exhibits 5 and 6.
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Accordingly, Manal has established the second element, that Sixteen Plus is in default
under the terms of the Note and Mortgage.

C. Manal, as the Lender, is Authorized to Foreclose on the Mortgaged Property

There is no dispute that under the terms of the Note and Mortgage, Manal, in her capacity
as lender, is authorized to foreclose on the Mortgaged Property.

The Mortgage allows a lawsuit to enforce its terms including a foreclosure action. See SOF
9 8 (“If an Event of Default shall have occurred, the Lender may proceed to foreclose this Mortgage
and to protect and enforce its rights by an action at law, suit in equity or other appropriate
proceeding . . ..”); Exhibit 4 at 4 16.1. The Mortgage further states, “If an Event of Default shall
have occurred, the Lender may at any time proceed at law or in equity or otherwise to foreclose
the lien of this Mortgage as against all or any part of the Property. ...” SOF 9 8; Exhibit 4 at q 18.
Accordingly, Manal is authorized to foreclosure on the mortgaged property pursuant to the terms
of the Note and Mortgage.

Finally, Manal is permitted to recover legal fees and costs pursuant to the Note and
Mortgage. SOF 9§ 7; Exhibit 3; Exhibit 4 at § 16.2. Manal reserves the right to submit her request
for attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses in this matter upon judgment.

VI.  Conclusion: Summary Judgment Must be Granted in Favor of Manal and Against

Sixteen Plus

As set forth above, there is no genuine dispute of fact as to the required elements for
Manal’s debt and foreclosure claims. First, there is no dispute that Sixteen Plus, through its
President, executed the Note and Mortgage. Second, Sixteen Plus is in default under the terms of
the Note and Mortgage because it has failed to make payments to Manal. Third, as holder of the

Note and Mortgage, Manal is authorized to foreclose on the mortgaged property. Therefore, Manal
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has established that there are no genuine disputes of material fact and she is entitled to judgment
in her favor on her debt and foreclosure claims as a matter of law.

Accordingly, the Court should grant the instant Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment
on the debt and foreclosure claim against Sixteen Plus.

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, Plaintiff Manal M. Yousef respectfully
requests this Court enter an order granting her Motion for Summary Judgement and dismissing
the counterclaim against her in Civil No. SX-17-CV-342. Manal further prays that the order

contains such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully,

Dated: December 3, 2024 /s/ Christopher Allen Kroblin
CHRISTOPHER ALLEN KROBLIN, ESQ.
MARJORIE WHALEN, ESQ.

V.1. Bar Nos. 966 and R2019

KELLERHALS FERGUSON KROBLIN PLLC

Royal Palms Professional Building

9053 Estate Thomas, Suite 101

St. Thomas, V.I. 00802-3602

Telephone: (340) 779-2564

Facsimile: (888) 316-9269

Email: ckroblin@kellfer.com
mwhalen@kellfer.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 3rd day of December, 2024, a true and exact copy of

the foregoing Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment was electronically filed with the Clerk

of the Court using the VIJEFS system, which will send a notification of such filing to the following:

Joel H. Holt, Esq.

Law Offices of Joel H. Holt
2132 Company Street
Christiansted, USVI 00802
holtvi@aol.com

Carl J. Hartmann, III, Esq.
2940 Brookwind Drive
Holland. MI 49424
carl@carlhartmann.attorney

Kevin A. Rames, Esq.

Kevin A. Rames, P.C.

2111 Company Street, Suite 3
Christiansted, VI 00820
kevin.rames@rameslaw.com

Copy via email to:

Special Master Edgar D. Ross
Alice Kuo

Charlotte Perell, Esq.

Stefan Herpel, Esq.

Dudley Newman Feuerzeig

Law House, 1000 Frederiksberg Gade
St. Thomas, VI 00804-0756
cperrell@dnfvi.com
sherpel@dnfvi.com

Counsel for Third-Party Defendant
Fathi Yusuf

/s/ Marjorie Whalen
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Third-Party Defendant.

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF, )
) CASE NO. SX-2017-CV-342
Plaintiff and Counter-Defendant, )
) ACTION FOR DEBT AND
V. ) FORECLOSURE; COUNTERCLAIM
) FOR DAMAGES; THIRD PARTY
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION, ) ACTION
)
Defendant, Counter-Plaintiff, and ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Third-Party Plaintiff )
)
v. )
)
FATHI YUSUF, )
)
)
)

CONSOLIDATED CASES: Civil Case No. SX-2016-CV-650; Civil Case No. SX-2016-CV-
00065; Civil Case No. SX-2017-CV-342

JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF FORECLOSURE

THIS MATTER is before the Special Master on Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef’s
Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment. Having reviewed the Motion and related submissions,
the Court will grant the same. Consistent with the Court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
Law made contemporaneously, it is hereby

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef is
awarded judgment against Defendant Sixteen Plus Corporation in the total amount of

Dollars and Cents ($ .___); consisting of

principal in the amount of Four Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,500,000); accrued
interest at a rate of eight percent (8%) per annum from September 15, 2001 to , 2024

in the amount of S ); late charges in
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the amount of $ ), consisting

of 12,328.7671 (which is equal to the principal balance outstanding on the Note of $4,500,000
divided by 365) multiplied by the then applicable prime interest rate of interest plus half a percent
(0.5%) multiplied by the number of days between the date installment was due and the date
installment was received with prejudgment interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) and
interest at the statutory rate of four percent (4%) per annum from the date of entry of this Judgment
until this Judgment is satisfied; and it is further
ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef
may seek an award of attorneys’ fees and costs to be determined upon appropriate application; and
it is further
ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Sixteen Plus Corporation’s Amended
Counterclaim is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE; and it is further
ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef’s
Mortgage against the following subject Property:
All that certain property lying between and being situate in St. Croix, United States Virgin
Islands, to-wit:
1. Parcel No. 8, Estate Cane Garden, of approximately 2.6171 U.S. Acres.
2. Remainder No. 46A, Estate Can Garden, of approximately 7.6460 U.S. Acres.
3. Parcel No. 10, Estate Cane Garden, of approximately 2.0867 U.S. Acres.
4. Road Plot No. 11. Estate Cane Garden, of approximately 0.0868 U.S. Acres.
5. Parcel No. 11, Estate Retreat, Matr. No 37B of Company Quarter and Peter’s Minde, Matr
No. 37A and No. 37BA, Company Quarter, and No. 54 Queen’s Quarter all of

approximately 42.3095 U.S. Acres.
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6. Remainder Matr. No. 32B, Estate Cane Garden of approximately 48.5175 U.S. Acres

7. Parcel No. 9, Estate Cane Garden, of approximately 11.9965 U.S. Acres.

8. Remainder Matr. No. 32A, Estate Granard, of approximately 41.0736 U.S. Acres.

9. Parcel No. 40, Estate Granard of approximately 14.9507 U.S. Acres.

10. Remainder Matr. No. 31, Estate Diamond, of approximately 74.4220 U.S. Acres.

11. Parcel No. 4, Estate Diamond, of approximately 5.8662 U.S. Acres.

12. Parcel No. 1, Estate Diamond, of approximately 61.2358 U.S. Acres.

13. Parcel No. 3, Estate Diamond, of approximately 6.9368 U.S. Acres.

14. Parcel No. 2, Estate Diamond, of approximately 6.5484 U.S. Acres.

15. Road Plot No. 12, Estate Cane Garden, of approximately 0.4252 U.S. Acres.

16. Road Plot No. 41, Estate Granard, of approximately 0.4255 U.S. Acres.

17. Road Plot No. 6, Estate Diamond, of approximately 0.8510 U.S. Acres.
being the same Property known as Diamond Keturah and described in the First Priority Mortgage
dated September 15, 1997 between Sixteen Plus Corporation, (“Borrower’), and Manal Mohamad
Yousef (“Lender”), recorded at the Office of the Recorder of Deeds, Division of St. Croix, on
February 22, 1999 in Book 679 at Page 33 as Document No. 768/1999 (the “Property’)
is a valid priority mortgage, superior to all other subordinate liens or encumbrances of record
against the Property that may have been recorded after the date of recording of the Mortgage and
judgment of foreclosure is hereby issued in favor of Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef’s first
priority Mortgage and foreclosing any other interests in the Property held by any Defendant in this
action, or any claim, lien, title or interest in and to the Property recorded after the date of the
Mortgage herein; and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Property may be sold by the Virgin

Islands Marshal according to law and the proceeds of such sale shall be applied first toward the

cost of the sale and then toward satisfaction of this Judgment including attorneys’ fees and costs
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that may be awarded and any sums that may be paid by Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef to
maintain the Property pending sale, including insurance, with interest from the date of any such
payment, in accordance with the provisions of 28 V.I.C. § 531 et seq. Any deficiency due and
owing to Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef after receipt of the proceeds of the Marshal’s Sale
shall be satisfied by Sixteen Plus Corporation. The surplus, if any, remaining after application of
the proceeds as provided above, shall be returned to Sixteen Plus Corporation; and it is further

ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Notice of the Marshal’s Sale shall be
published once a week for four (4) consecutive weeks prior to the sale in a newspaper regularly
issued and of general circulation in the Virgin Islands. The Notice shall describe the Property as
set out above and shall contain the terms and conditions of the sale as set out herein. The terms
and conditions are as follows:

a. The Property shall be sold at public sale at the Office of the Virgin Islands Marshal,
Superior Court of the Virgin Islands, R.H. Amphlett Leader Justice Center, RR1 9000,
Kingshill, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands;

b. The terms of the sale as to all other persons or parties bidding shall be cash. The successful
be shall be cash. The successful bidder shall be required to deposit with the Virgin Islands
Marshal cash equal to ten percent (10%) of said successful bid at or before 3:00 p.m. on
the date of the sale; and the remaining ninety percent (90%) of the purchase price to be
paid on or about 3:00 p.m., within thirty (30) days inclusive of the date of the sale. In the
event the successful bidder fails to pay the balance within the thirty (30) days, the deposit
will be forfeited and applied toward satisfaction of the judgment for which the Property is
being sold. Plaintiff Manal Mohammad Yousef may bid all or any portion of the amount

of this Judgment at such sale; and
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c. The Virgin Islands Marshal shall make a report of the sale within ten (10) days from the
date of the sale; and it is further
ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that Defendant Sixteen Plus Corporation
and all persons claiming from or under them shall be forever barred and foreclosed of and from all
rights of redemption and claim of, in, and to the Property except that Defendant Sixteen Plus
Corporation is entitled to its statutory right to redeem the foreclosed property as authorized by law;
and it is further
ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that copies of this Judgment and Order of

Foreclosure and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law shall be directed to counsel of record.

Dated:

EDGAR D. ROSS
ATTEST: Special Master
TAMARA CHARLES
Clerk of the Court
BY:

Court Clerk Supervisor / /
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SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION

UNANIMOUS CONSENT OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the provisions of Title 13, V.L.C. § 67b, the undersigned, constituting all of
the Directors of Sixteen Plus Corporation (the "Company"), do hereby unanimously consent to

the actions set forth below as though such actions had been taken at a of the Board of
Directors:
1. The Directors approve the terms of a Promissory Note and First Priority

Mortgage between the Company and Manal Mohamad Yousef.

2. The President or Vice President are authorized to execute any and all documents

on behalf of the Corporation that they may deem necessary or riate to carry out the
oblig of the Corporation, including, without the ity of the foregoing, the
execution of a Note and Mortgage substantially in the form as exhibits hereto.

3. The Company agrees to borrow $4,500,000 from Manal Mohamad Yousef in
with the terms of the aforesaid Promissory Note. ’

This written consent shall be filed with the minutes of the Corporation.

.
DATE: § £S7, 1997

and
attorney-in-fact, Waleed M. Hamed

295-1412

Hamed v. United & Yusuf- Def's Production
0088365
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L~ $4,500,000 September [) , 1997
PROMISSORY NOTE St. Croix, U.S.V.L.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Sixteen Plus Corporation ("Maker") promises to pay to the
order of Manal Mohamad Yousef ("Holder") of 25 Gold Finch Road Pointe Blanche, St.
Martin, N.A.;, or such other place as Holder may designate to Maker in writing from time to
time, the principal sum of Four Million, Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,500,000) together
with interest at 8% per annum in lawful money of the United States of America.

Such indebtedness shall be paid as follows:
Payments of interest only ($360,000 per year) will be made on the
anniversary of the date of this note for five years, with payment of

the full principal due five years from the date of this note.

This Note is secured by a first priority mortgage ("Mortgage"), dated of even date, in
favor of the Holder encumbering certain real property known as:

SEE EXHIBIT A

In further consideration for this loan, Maker agrees to pay to Holder 20% of the net
profit received from the sale of the property described in Exhibit A at the time of sale.

Maker shall pay to holder a late charge in the event that any installment is not received
by the Holder on the date that it is due. The late charge shall be computed as follows:

Principal Balance then applicable number of days
Outstanding on Note  x prime rate of X between date
interest plus 1/2% installment due
365 and date
installment
received.

All payments received by Holder shall be applied as follows: first, to any unpaid late
fees, costs and expenses; second, to any unpaid accrued interest; and finally, the balance, if any,
to principal.

This Note may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time without penalty or premium.
Partial prepayments shall be applied as set forth herein and shall not cause a change in the due
date or amount of the installments unless otherwise agreed by the Holder in writing.

It is hereby expressly agreed that should any default be made in the payment of principal

and interest as stipulated above, and if such monetary default remains uncured for a period of

— fifteen (15) days, or if there is any default in any of the terms and conditions of the Mortgage,
subject to the Notice provision, if any, in said instrument, then a default shall exist hereunder, q)p&

and in such event the principal indebtedness evidenced hereby, and any other sums advanced or

HAMD205547
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Promissory Note

Page 2

due hereunder or under the Mortgage, at the option of the Holder without notice or demand, at
once become due and payable and may be collected forthwith, and the entire unpaid principal
balance of this Note shall thereafter bear interest at a per annum rate equal to eighteen percent
(18.0%) per annum simple interest. A default shall be cured hereunder only upon the
occurrence of the following:

- Payment of the sum and/or performance of the obligation which was the basis of the
default; and

- Payment of all sums (including late fees and subsequent installments) and/or performance
of all obligations which have become due hereunder as of the date of cure.

In the event this Note, or any part thereof, is collected by or through an attorney-at-law,
Maker agrees to pay all costs of collection including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees and court
costs. Any notice sent in connection with this Note shall be sent in compliance with the notice
provisions contained in the Mortgage.

Presentment for payment, demand, protest, notice of demand, protest and non-payment
are hereby waived by Maker.

This Note is intended as a contract under and shall be construed, interpreted, and
enforceable in accordance with the laws of the United States Virgin Islands.

As used herein, the terms "Maker" and "Holder" shall be deemed to include their
respective heirs, successors, legal representatives and assigns, whether by voluntary actions of
the parties or by operation of law. In the event that more than one person, firm or entity is a
Maker hereunder, then all references to "Maker" shall be deemed to refer equally to each of said
persons, firms, or entities, all of whom shall be jointly and severally liable for all of the
obligations of Maker hereunder.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Maker has caused this Note to be executed by its duly
authorized officer effective the date first above written.

MAKER:

DATED: 7/ /S5 / ? 7’ SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION

Drencstii—

Waleed Hamed? President

[Corporate SEAL]
ATTE §_ T:

Fathi Yusuf, Secretary

HAMD205548
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DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

FATHI-YUSUF,

Plaintiff, CASE NO. ST-15-CV-344
ACTION FOR DISSOLUTION

\%
AND OTHER RELIEF

PETER’S FARM INVESTMENT
CORPORATION, SIXTEEN PLUS
CORPORATION, MOHAMMAD A.
HAMED, WALEED M. HAMED,
WAHEED M.HAMED, MUFEED M.
HAMED, and HISHAM M. HAMED,

Defendants

vavvvvvvvvvvvv

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AND AMENDED RESPONSES TO
DEFENDANT WALEED M. HAMED’S FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES

Plaintiff, Fathi Yusuf, through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP,
hereby provides its Second Supplemental and Amended Responses to Defendant Waleed M.
Hamed’s First Set of Interrogatories:

GENERAL OBJECTIONS

Plaintiff makes the following general objections to the Interrogatories. These general
objections apply to all or so many of the Interrogatories that, for convenience, they are set forth
herein and are not necessarily repeated after each objectionable Interrogatory. The assertion of the
same, similar, or additional objections in the individual responses to the Interrogatories, or the

failure to assert any additional objections to a discovery request does not waive any of Plaintiff’s

objections as set forth below:

EXHIBIT

6
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5 Did Sixteen Plus ever borrow funds to help secure the purchase of any property it has
owned in the Virgin Islands and if so, please state for each such loan:

a) The name and location of the lender;

b) The property purchased with the loan proceeds;

c) The amount of the loan;

d) The date of'the loan;

e) The date of all payments on the loan;

9 The current address and phone number of the lender;

g) The last date you had any communication with the lender; and
h) The current balance on the loan.

AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE:

Yes. The name of the lender is Manal Yousef. The date of the loan was September 15, 1997, and
the amount, $4.5 million dollars. Three interest-only payments were made during the 1998-2000
period to Manal Yousef. I do not recall the last date I had any communication with her. Manal
Yousef’s current address to the best of my knowledge is 25 Gold Finch Road, Poit}tc Blanche, St.
Martin. She is represented by counsel (Kye Walker, Esq.) in an illegitimate lawsu:t_ that was filed
by Sixteen Plus Corporation without my authority or approval, and without consulting with me or
any other of the Yusuf shareholders or letting any of us know it would be filed. Th(-: lawsuit is
pending in the Virgin Islands Superior Court (St. Croix Division), and is styled Sixteen Plus
Corporation v. Manal Mohammad Yousef, case no. SX-16-CV-65. Because Manal Yousef is
represented by counsel in the lawsuit, and because the lawsuit was brought at the behest of the
Hamed shareholder interests in Sixteen Plus Corporation, counsel for any of the Hameds are barred
from speaking directly to Manal Yousef. For that reason, Defendant objects to proylding her
telephone number. You and other attorneys acting for the Hameds are permitted to discuss this
matter with her counsel, Attorney Walker, whose phone number is The current
principal balance on the loan is $4.5 million, plus accrued interest. I also spoke to an agent of
Manal Yousef named , shortly after the service of the lawsuit filed against Manal Y ousef.
1 do not recall the exact date. He telephoned me to tell me about the lawsuit, which I knew nothing
about. I told him that the lawsuit was filed without my knowledge or approval, .and t_hat it was
wrong in claiming that the mortgage given by Sixteen Plus to Manal Yousef was invalid. 1 have

had no conversations with him since that one.
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Dated: August 9, 2016

By:

CERTIFICATE

Respectfully Submitted,
DEWOOD LAW FIRM

Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. (VI Bar No. 1177)
2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 102
Christiansted, V.I. 00820

T. (340) 773-3444/F. (888) 398-8428
Email: nizar@dewood-law.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff Fathi Yusuf

I hereby certify that on this the 9" day of August, 2016, a true and exact copy of the
foregoing PLAINTIFEF’S SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AND AMENDED RESPONSES TO
DEFENDANT WALEED M. HAMED’S INTERROGATORIES was served via U.S. Mail,
postage prepaid, and email as agreed by the parties, to the following:

Joel H. Holt, Esq.

Law Offices of Joel H. Holt
2132 Company Street
Christiansted, VI 00820
E-Mail: holtvi@aol.com

Carl J. Hartmann II1, Esq.

5000 Estate Coakley Bay

Unit L-6

Christiansted, VI 00820
E-Mail: carl@carlhartmann.com

Christina Joseph
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FATHI YUSU#E.

Plaintiff, CASE NO. ST-15-CV-344

ACTION FOR DISSOLUTION
AND OTHER RELIEF

1%

PETER’S FARM INVESTMENT
CORPORATION, SIXTEEN PLUS
CORPORATION, MOHAMMAD A.
HAMED, WALEED M. HAMED.
WAHEED M. HAMED, MUFEED M
HAMED, and HISHAM M. HAMED,

Defendants

CERTIFI  TION
| hereby swear and affirm that the factual portions of the Plaintiff's Second
Supplemental and Amended Responses to Defendant Waleed M. Hamed’s
First Set of Interrogatories are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and

belief

FATHI YUSUF

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN 1o, before me, this day of August, 2016

Nofary P ic .~
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Co _
Sommission Expires Qctober 21, 2018
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DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN

FATHI YUSUF,
Plaintiff, CASE NO. ST-15-CV-344

ACTION FOR DISSOLUTION
AND OTHER RELIEF

\%

PETER’S FARM INVESTMENT
CORPORATION, SIXTEEN PLUS
CORPORATION, MOHAMMAD A.
HAMED, WALEED M. HAMED,
WAHEED M.HAMED, MUFEED M.
HAMED, and HISHAM M. HAMED,

Defendants.

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AND AMENDED RESPONSES TO
D ANT W M. HAMED’S FIRST ATO

Plaintiff, Fathi Yusuf, through his attorneys, Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP,
hereby provides its Second Supplemental and Amended Responses to Interrogatory 5 of
Defendant Waleed M. Hamed’s First Set of Interrogatories:

GENERAL OBJECTIONS
Plaintiff incorporates all general objections previously made to Defendant Waleed M.

Hamed’s First Set of Interrogatories.

EXHIBIT

Z
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SECORSYSUPPLE RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. S
5 Did Sixteen Plus ever borrow funds to help secure the purchase of any property it has

owned in the Virgin Islands and if so, please state for each such loan:

a) The name and location of the lender:
b) The property purchased with the loan proceeds;
c) The amount of the loan;
d) The date of the loan;
e) The date of all payments on the loan;
f) The current address and phone number of the lender;
2) The last date you had any communication with the lender; and
h) The current balance on the loan.
AMENDED AND SUP RESPONSE:

Yes. The name of the lender is Manal Yousef. The date of the loan was September 15, 1997, and
the amount, $4.5 million dollars. Three interest-only payments were made during the 1998-2000
period to Manal Yousef. I do not recall the last date I had any communication with her. Manal
Yousef’s current address to the best of my knowledge is 25 Gold Finch Road, Pointe Blanche,
St. Martin. I do not have a direct phone number for her, but she should be reachable through her
nephew, Jamil Yousef, who resides in St. Martin and whose phone number is 721.554.4444,
Manal is represented by counsel (Kye Walker, Esq.) in an illegitimate lawsuit that was filed by
Sixteen Plus Corporation without my authority or approval, and without consulting with me or
any other of the Yusuf shareholders or letting any of us know it would be filed. The lawsuit is
pending in the Virgin Islands Superior Court (St. Croix Division), and is styled Sixteen Plus
Corporation v. Manal Mohammad Yousef, case no. SX-16-CV-65. The current principal balance

on the loan is $4.5 million, plus accrued interest.



Fathi Yusuf (v. Peter's Farm Investment

Corporation, et al.)

Case No. ST-15-CV-344

Plaintiff's Second Supplemental Response to Defendant
Waleed M. Hamed's Interrogatories

Page 3 of 4

e Respectfully submitted,

DUDLEY, TOPPER AND FEUERZEIG, LLP

DATED: September 26, 2016 By:

YH. X (V.1. Bar No. 174)
STEFAN B. HERPEL (V.1. Bar No. 1019)
Law House

1000 Frederiksberg Gade (P.O. Box 756)

St. Thomas, U.S.V.1. 00804-0756

Telephone:  (340) 774-4422

Facsimile: (340) 715-4400

E-Mail: ghodges@dtflaw.com
sherpel@dtflaw.com

Y, TOPPER
'ERZEIG, LLP
eriksberg Gade
Box 756

S V.. 00804-0756
774-4422
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this the 26th day of September, 2016, a true and exact copy of the
foregoing PLAINTIFF’S SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL AND AMENDED RESI.’ONSES TO
DEFENDANT WALEED M. HAMED’S INTERROGATORIES was served via U.S. Mail,
postage prepaid, and email as agreed by the parties, to the following:

Joel H. Holt, Esq. Carl J. Hartmann I1I, Esq.

Law Offices of Joel H. Holt 5000 Estate Coakley Bay

2132 Company Street Unit L-6

Christiansted, VI 00820 Christiansted, VI 00820

E-Mail: holtvi@aol.com E-Mail: carl@carlhartmann.com
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Attorneys at Law | Tax Lawyers

Sixteen Plus Corporation
4 C & D Sion Farm .
Christiansted

St. Croix 00820, U.S.V.I,

Par Courier
St. Maarten, December 12, 2012

Ref.: Manal Mohamad Yousef / Collection loan

Dear Sir, Madame,
My client Manal Mohamad Yousef requested me to inform you of the following.

As it appears from documents in my possession your company owes client an amount of no Jess
than US$ 14,612,662.23 (Fourteen Million Six Hundred Twelve Thousand Six Hundred Sixty
Two United States Dollars and Twenty Three Dollar Cent), for both principle and interest, based
on a promissory note between client and your company dated September 15, 1007 and a First
Priority Mortgage dated February 22, 1999. Apart from this your company owes client at least an

amount of US$ 3,000,000,00 for late penalties.

Client is no longer willing to accept your negligent payment behavior and hereby summons you
entire debt mentioned, to the total of US$ 17,612,662.23, to client within two (2)

to pay off

weeks the postdating of this letter, Failure to comply therewith shall result in legal
mea against your company forthwith, the costs of which will be for your account
onl

EXHIBIT

SN
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

HISHAM HAMED, individually, and
derivatively on behalf of
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Plaintiff,
V.
FATHI YUSUF, I1SAM YOUSUF,
and JAMIL YOUSUF,
Defendants.
and
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,

a nominal Defendant.

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Plaintiff,
=
MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Defendant,
and

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,

Case No.

Page 1

I SLANDS

SX-2016-CV-00650

Consolidated with

Civil No.

SX-2016-CV-00065

Veritext Legal Solutions

215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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Counter-Plaintiff,
V.
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,

Counter-Defendant

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Plaintiff,
V.
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Defendant,
and
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Counter-Plaintiff,
=
MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Counter-Defendant
And
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,

Third-Party Plaintiff,

V.

FATHI YSUF,

Third-Party Defendant.

Page 2

Consolidated with
Civil No.

SX-2017-CV-00342

Veritext Legal Solutions

215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
WALEED HAMED

DATE:: Thursday, August 10, 2023
TIME: 12:24 p.m.
LOCATION: Remote Proceeding

Washington, DC 20005
REPORTED BY: Shondra Dawson, Notary Public
JOB NO.: 6014366

Veritext Legal Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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business.

Q Okay. But you were not present for any
conversations between him and Fathi Yusuf relating to
the Diamond Keturah property?

A They said that they had conversations. |1
can"t say I was there. No, | wasn"t there 1f they had
it.

MS. PERRELL: Okay. Pam, if you could
pull up -- 1f you could pull up exhibits H-58 and H-
597

Give us just a second. We®"re going to
be pulling up some documents. Here we go. All right.
Exhibit -- 1 can®"t see the number. Okay. Sorry. My
people are on -- okay.
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q Okay. Exhibit H-58. This 1Is the promissory
note given to Manal Yousef for 4.5 million. Are you
familiar with this document?

(Exhibit H-58 was previously marked for
identification.)

A Yes, ma“am.

MS. PERRELL: Okay. Pam, if you could
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scroll down to the bottom of the document, the
signature page? Well, first, let me ask you -- Pam,
while you®"re there -- it"s too late.
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q All right. Is this your signature on the
bottom?

A Yes, ma®am.

Q Okay. And did you sign it on or about
September 15, 19977

A Yes, ma®am.

Q Okay. And i1s that Fathi Yusuf®s signature

A Yes, ma“am.

Q Okay. And did you instruct an attorney to
prepare this document on behalf of Sixteen Plus?

A I specifically don"t recall that I did, but
maybe 1 did.

Q Okay. Do you know which attorney prepared
this document?

A No, ma“"am. Don"t remember.

Q All right. Would you have been the primary

person -- 1 know you don"t remember, but would you

Veritext Legal Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830




“EXHIBIT 9”



© 00 N oo o A~ W N P

N N N P R R R R R R R R R
N B O © O N O O A W N B O

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

HISHAM HAMED, individually, and
derivatively on behalf of
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Plaintiff,
V.
FATHI YUSUF, I1SAM YOUSUF,
and JAMIL YOUSUF,
Defendants.
and
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,

a nominal Defendant.

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Plaintiff,
=
MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Defendant,
and

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,

Case No.

Page 1

I SLANDS

SX-2016-CV-00650

Consolidated with

Civil No.

SX-2016-CV-00065
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Counter-Plaintiff,
V.
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,

Counter-Defendant

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Plaintiff,
V.
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Defendant,
and
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Counter-Plaintiff,
=
MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Counter-Defendant
And
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,

Third-Party Plaintiff,

V.

FATHI YUSUF,

Third-Party Defendant.

Page 2

Consolidated with
Civil No.

SX-2017-CV-00342
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VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSUF AKHRAS

DATE:: Thursday, August 10, 2023
TIME: 9:05 a.m.
LOCATION: Remote Proceeding

Washington, DC 20005
REPORTED BY: Shondra Dawson, Notary Public
JOB NO.: 6014366
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A I don®"t know.

Q Did he give any of your other brothers or
sisters money besides Isam?

A Yes. He gave them lands, properties, money,
but exact numbers, | don"t know.

Q Did he give any of your other -- other than
Isam, did he give any of your brothers and sisters
more -- virtual connectivity interruption --

THE INTERPRETER: Mr. Joel, your
question was fading because the iInternet wasn®"t good
on your side.

MR. HOLT: No problem.

BY MR. HOLT:

Q Other than Isam, did he give any brothers
and sister more than a million dollars?

A Me and Isam-- maybe 20 millions, but the
rest of us, I don"t know how much exact number.

Q Of the 20 million that he gave for you and
Isam, how much of that was yours?

THE INTERPRETER: I will interpret the
exact number. Four thousand, she said, then six

hundred thousand.
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MR. HOLT: 1"m going to repeat the
question.
THE INTERPRETER: Yes, please.
BY MR. HOLT:
Q Of the 20 million dollars that he gave you
and Isam, how much of that money was your money?
A Four millions and five hundred.
Q And did your father tell you that, or did

you just overhear him speaking with Isam about i1t?

A He -- my father told me this money is for me
and Isam. Okay. So my money -- this was for me
and -- and the hold of Isam, the hand of Isam.

MR. HOLT: Okay. You don"t need to
interpret this just yet. 1"m going now put up on the
screen another exhibit, and there"s a long answer iIn
English and in Arabic, and so 1"m going to read i1t for
the record, and then 1"m going to ask the question,
"Is this correct?” and then you can translate i1t all
and ask that question, okay?

THE INTERPRETER: Okay.

BY MR. HOLT:

Q Okay. Showing you Exhibit number 3. That"s

Veritext Legal Solutions
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Q Okay. Showing you Exhibit number 6. In
response to interrogatory number 4, you stated: 'The
money which 1 loaned to Sixteen Plus Corporation was
transfterred on my behalf by my brother Isam, who had
control and management authority of my money which had
been given to me by my father for my benefit and for
investment purposes.”

Is this true?
(Exhibit 6 was marked for
identification.)

A Yes, correct.

Q And was this authority to control and
management authority you gave Isam in writing or just
verbally?

A It was verbally, because my father he gave
him the authorization also for that.

Q I"m showing you Exhibit number 7. In
response to interrogatory number 8 sent you iIn this
case asking about the negotiations for the terms of
the loan to Sixteen Plus, you stated: "All of the
terms and conditions of the promissory note and

accompanying mortgage were negotiated on my behalf by

Veritext Legal Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830




© 00 N oo o A~ W N P

N N N P B R R R R R R R R
N B O © O N o O A W N B O

Page 48

my father and my brother Isam."
Is that sworn statement true?
(Exhibit 7 was marked for
identification.)

A Yes, correct.

Q Did you give them any specific instructions
as to the amount of iInterest to charge?

A No. It was something agreed between my
father and Isam, and 1t was something like -- 1t was
$360,000 -- every year.

Q Did you tell them to do that, or did they
just negotiate that themselves?

A No, It was Isam, and he was negotiating
about the terms. He was doing everything.

Q Have you ever heard the name --

MR. HOLT: You can take down that

exhibit for right now.

BY MR. HOLT:

Q Have you ever heard of the name Diamond
Keturah?

A Yes.

Q And what does that name mean to you?

Veritext Legal Solutions
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THE INTERPRETER: I will repeat that
question.

THE INTERPRETER (FOR THE WITNESS): No.

MR. HOLT: We can take that document
down. And 1 have no more questions.

MS. PERRELL: Do you have any
questions? | have a few.

MR. HYMES: Go right ahead.

MS. PERRELL: Attorney Holt -- Attorney
Hymes. Okay.

MR. HYMES: Go right ahead, Charlotte.

EXAMINATION

BY MS. PERRELL:

Q Good morning, or afternoon, Ms. Yousef. My
name is Charlotte Perrell, and | represent Fathi
Yusuf. 1 have a few questions just to clarify some of
your earlier answers.

Okay. First question, when did you get
married?

A (In English) 1985.

Q Okay. 1 know this may be a sensitive topic.

Before you had your children, did you have any trouble

Veritext Legal Solutions
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getting pregnant or having children?

A Yes, correct.

Q All right. And I"m sorry to ask. Did your
family -- did your father know of the troubles you
were having having children?

A Yes, of course.

Q And did he ever express to you any concern
about wanting to provide you funds for your wellbeing
iIT he were to pass?

THE INTERPRETER: He what?

MS. PERRELL: Pass away.

THE INTERPRETER (FOR THE WITNESS):
Yes, of course.
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q And what did he discuss with you about that
topic?

A I had really a major problem with my --

getting pregnant.

A (In English) 1 had five miscarriages -- SiXx
miscarriages.
A (Interpreter) 1 had six miscarriages. And

my father was really worrying about me. So because
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this i1ssue took a long time from my life, he was
trying to make something for me to secure my marriage.
So even he was searching for any doctor in any place
to help me for that.

Q Did he discuss with you wanting to leave you
any money because of this issue?

A Of course, yes.

Q Before the discussion about buying the
Diamond Keturah property, had you had discussions with
your father about money that he wanted to leave you?

A Yes, correct.

Q Okay. And had he given the money that he
wanted to leave you to Isam before this property ever
came up?

A I"m not sure exactly, but i1t was really a
discussion about that.

Q When your father passed away, was there
money that was given to all of the siblings -- you,
your brothers, and so forth -- when he passed away?

A Yes. There were properties, there were real
estates, businesses, something like that.

Q Okay. And I apologize for prying into your

Veritext Legal Solutions
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bring that down now, Pam. Thank you.
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q With regard to the moneys that you received,
the $360,000 per year for three years, do you know why
the payments stopped?

A I hear they were having problems.

Q Do you know what allegations are being made
now about the mortgage that was signed by Sixteen Plus
on behalf of Waleed Hameed?

THE INTERPRETER: What"s the name,
sorry, Ms. Charlotte?

MS. PERRELL: Waleed Hamed.

THE INTERPRETER (FOR THE WITNESS): Can
you rephrase the question?
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q Okay. The allegation -- let me ask you
this. Are you aware that an allegation has been made
that the mortgage document is not valid because i1t was
not your money that was lent?

A Yes, | hear that.

Q Okay. What i1s your response? Is that true

or false?
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A -- the document that they were signed

against these properties, right?
MS. PERRELL: Okay. That"s her answer?
THE INTERPRETER: Yes, this 1s her
answer .
BY MS. PERRELL:

Q Okay. Let me ask you this. Was i1t your
money that was used and lent to Sixteen Plus?

A Of course. Yes. This i1s my father®s money
sent to me.

Q Okay. You said that there were some kind of
problems as to why the money, the payments, stopped
coming. What kind of problems did you understand?

A They had problems with the United States
government.

MS. PERRELL: All right. | don"t think
I have any further questions. Thank you.
MR. HYMES: 1 have a couple.
EXAMINATION
BY MR. HYMES:
Q Good morning. [Is it your testimony here

today that your father told you that he was making
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST. CROIX
HISHAM HAMED, Individually and

derivatively on behalf of

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Plaintiff,

\%

FATHI YUSUF, ISAM YOUSUF and

JAMIL YOUSUF,
Defendants,
and
SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
a nominal Defendant.

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Plaintiff,

V.

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Defendant,

and

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Counter-Plaintiff,

V.

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Counter-Defendant.

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Plaintiff,

V.

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION
Defendant,

and

SIXTEEN PLUS CORPORATION,
Counter-Plaintiff,

V.

MANAL MOHAMMAD YOUSEF,
Counter-Defendant.

Case No.

SX-2016-CV-00650

Consolidated with
Civil No.
SX-2016-CV-00065

Consolidated with
Civil No.
SX-2017-CV-00342
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Pursuant to Notice, the videotaped deposition
of ISAM YOUSUF was taken on Tuesday, July 25th, 2023,
beginning at 10:02 a.m. via Zoom videoconference before

Kathryn M. Benhoff, Notary Public.

ALL PARTICIPANTS VIA ZOOM VIDEOCONFERENCE
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media unit No. 3.
BY MR. HARTMANN:

Q Okay. 1°d like to talk to you now about
the mortgage and loan to Manal that®"s at issue in
this case. Do you know what mortgage and note 1™m
talking about?

A Yes, sir. The loan was given by me to
Sixteen Plus.

Q That®"s correct.

A Yeah.

Q Okay. 1°d like you i1f you would to tell
me, start at the very beginning of that whole
interaction where your father gives you money, and
1"d like to kind of come forward in time about what
happened, and we don"t have to rush through this, so
if you could tell me how the idea of your father
giving you money for your sister first came up and
when.

A well, came on as my father, he was about
70 years old. My sister, she was not making

children. He had some i1investment In the Caribbean.
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He had access to deposit money to my account. Then
he say this amount you could see in the account, 1
want to leave i1t to your sister, and that®"s where
come that when 1 invest i1t for her, or he recommend
to invest i1t for her.

Q Okay. Let"s go back over that. 1"d just
like to ask you some specific questions. You
said --

A Yeah.

Q -- this happened when your father was
about 70. What year would that have been?

A Maybe "93. 1 think about "93.

Q Okay. So in 1993, how did this happen?
You had a single discussion or a series of
discussions? Did i1t happen at dinners or iIn an
office? How did 1t —-

A It was order. |Is my father. It was
order, the money from him, the money iIn your
account, leave it for Manal. Manal, she don®t make
children, and (inaudible), usually, the lady, she

don"t make children, maybe they try for 10, 12 year.
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Then he divorce her for they want children. Then he
want her to be secure.

Q So did, did he give the money to you or
did he tell you to use your money for her?

A No, he, he deposit money along this year
and he say that is $4 million, the $4 million in
your account, $4 million something, that"s out of
the money out of that account is for your sister.

Q Okay. So your father deposited $4 million
into your account?

A More than that. No, more than that he
deposit.

Q Okay. And when you say he deposited, did
he have signatory power on your account?

A No, he didn"t have, but 1 could, 1 could
deposit money iIn your account. Give me your account
number, I go and put $10,000 in your account.

Q Okay.

A But these days, all right. The old times,
they never specific about moving the money. Right

now, yes, maybe where he get i1t from, sign, sign

Veritext Legal Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830




	Renewed MSJ
	Prop Judgment re Renewed MSJ
	Exhibit 1_MSJ
	Exhibit 2_MSJ
	Exhibit 3_MSJ
	Exhibit 4_MSJ
	Exhibit 5_MSJ
	Exhibit 6_MSJ
	Exhibit 7_MSJ
	Exhibit 8_MSJ
	Exhibit 9_MSJ
	Exhibit 10_MSJ



